FILE SID J WHITE

AUG 23 1994

SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

CASE NO.: 84,060

Ohlef Deputy Clerk

By_

STARR TYME, INC.

Defendant/Petitioner, vs.

DAVID COHEN

Plaintiff/Respondent.

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Bruce J. Benenfeld, Esq. 7800 W. Oakland Park Boulevard Suite 109 Sunrise, FL 33351

and

Lauri Waldman Ross, Esq. MALAND & ROSS Two Datran Center, Suite 1209 9130 S. Dadeland Boulevard Miami, FL 33156 (305) 670-4900

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The estoppel provisions contained in §§772.14 and 775.089(8), Fla. Stat. (1991) mandate that where a judgment is rendered in favor of the State in criminal proceedings or where a defendant is "convicted" of an offense, that he be estopped from denying the elements of the same offense in subsequent civil proceedings.

Here a judgment was clearly rendered in favor of the state. This Court has further defined a conviction as an adjudication by the Court of the Defendant's guilt and the pronouncement by the Court of the penalty imposed upon the Defendant. An adjudication of guilt entered upon a nolo plea falls squarely within that definition.

There is no inconsistency between the statutes and §90.410 of the Florida Evidence Code, rendering <u>nolo</u> pleas inadmissible. It

³ The Court may consider a rephrased question presented on the face of the decision. <u>See e.g.</u>, <u>Dept. of Transportation v. Fortune</u> <u>Federal Savings & Loan</u>, 532 So.2d 1267 (Fla. 1988).

is not the plea that is at issue, but the final judgment in favor of the state and Cohen's adjudication of guilt.

In sum, the District Court's decision should be quashed and the cause remanded with directions to either enter judgment in the petitioner's favor or alternatively grant the petitioner a new trial where the statutory estoppel provisions are enforced.

ARGUMENT

A DEFENDANT WHO IS ADJUDICATED GUILTY AFTER ENTRY OF JUDGMENT IN FAVOR OF THE STATE PURSUANT TO A <u>NOLO CONTENDERE</u> PLEA AND IS ORDERED TO MAKE RESTITUTION SHOULD BE COLLATERALLY ESTOPPED BY STATUTE FROM OFFERING EVIDENCE ON THE SAME CORE FACTS IN SUBSEQUENT CIVIL PROCEEDINGS.

In 1982, Congress passed the "Victim and Witness Protection Act" (Hereinafter the "VWPA") which contained restitution provisions requiring convicted criminals to compensate their victims. 18 U.S.C. §§3579-80 (1982), renumbered 18 U.S.C. §§3663-64 (1987) (effective November 1, 1987). In enacting the VWPA, Congress wanted to ensure that victims of crime would be restored to their prior state of well-being. S.Rep. 97-532, 97th Congress, 2nd Sess. 32, <u>reprinted in</u> 1982 U.S. Code Cong. & Ad. News 2515, 2536. Included among those provisions was 18 U.S.C. §3579, which has now been recodified as 18 U.S.C. §3664 and provides that:

> A conviction of a defendant for an offense involving the act giving rise to restitution under this section shall estop the defendant from denying the essential allegations of that offense in any subsequent Federal civil

proceeding or State civil proceeding to the extent consistent with State law, brought by the victim.

The legislative history to the statute reflects "the committee's intention in this subsection that a criminal conviction obviates a victim's need to establish a defendant's liability in a civil suit for punitive and/or compensatory damages." S.Rep. No. 97-532, 97th Congress, 2nd Sess. 3G, reprinted in 1982 U.S. Code Cong. & Ad. News 2515 at 2538.

Prior to 1984, Florida law provided that a criminal conviction could not be used as conclusive proof of facts underlying conviction in a civil suit arising from the same facts. <u>Trucking</u> <u>Employees of North Jersey Welfare Fund, Inc. v. Romano</u>, 450 So.2d 843 (Fla. 1984). While a plea of <u>nolo contendere</u> had the same effect as a guilty plea in other instances, it did not estop the defendant from pleading and proving his innocence in a civil case. <u>Chesebrough v. State</u>, 255 So.2d 675 (Fla. 1971). In 1984, however, the Florida legislature enacted section 775.089(8), Fla. Stats., which was almost identical to its federal counterpart. Petitioner contends that sections 775.089(8) and 772.14, a completely different statute, effected a change in existing law which the district court ignored.

In affirming the final judgment, the district court relied upon <u>United States v. Satterfield</u>, 743 F.2d 827, 838 (11th Cir. 1984), <u>cert. denied</u>, 471 U.S. 1117, 105 S.Ct. 2362, 86 L.Ed.2d 262 (1985), and <u>Matter of Raiford</u>, 695 F.2d 521, 523 (11th Cir. 1983).

In <u>Satterfield</u>, the defendants were convicted of kidnapping

after a criminal jury trial and sentenced to varying prison terms. However, the trial court refused to order restitution to the victim under the VWPA, declaring those provisions of the federal statute unconstitutional under the seventh, fifth and fourteenth The district court held that 18 U.S.C. §3580 (now Amendments. section 3664(e)) gave collateral estoppel effect to all of the facts underlying a restitution order, including the victim's damages in a subsequent civil proceeding, (which were adduced at a hearing to consider the financial resources of the defendants, their earning ability and the financial needs of their dependents) and therefore was unconstitutional because it was essentially a civil judgment without trial by jury or due process.

The Eleventh Circuit affirmed the defendants' convictions, but reversed the finding that §3664(e) was unconstitutional. It held that the facts developed for restitution at a criminal sentencing proceeding were irrelevant to and necessarily differed from those developed in a civil trial on damages. The court read the statute more narrowly, barring the defendant from challenging only those facts underlying the criminal offense that were <u>necessarily</u> <u>determined</u> by the jury's verdict. <u>United States v. Satterfield</u>, 743 F.2d at 837-38, n.7. Thus collateral estoppel would not apply to facts supporting the restitution order -- <u>e.g.</u>, the extent and nature of the victim's damage or injury -- which were not part of the essential allegations underlying the criminal conviction.

The Court wrote that "subsection 3580(e) does no more than codify the rule in this and other circuits that a criminal

conviction may be used as conclusive proof <u>of some issues</u> in a subsequent civil litigation." <u>Id.</u> at 838. It further noted that facts underlying a criminal conviction would only be given collateral estoppel effect if they were fully and fairly litigated at a criminal trial or stipulated through guilty plea. <u>Id. See also Matter of Raiford</u>, 695 F.2d 521 (11th Cir. 1983) ("A federal criminal defendant wishing to avoid both a trial and any collateral estoppel effect may ask for court permission to plead <u>nolo</u> <u>contendere</u>").

The Fourth District's reliance on these cases as dispositive of the issue presented here is misplaced for several reasons. First, the federal plea rule on which the federal cases are based differs significantly from the state rule. Pursuant to Fed.R.Crim.Proc. 11(b), a defendant is allowed to plead nolo contendere with the consent of the court, which may accept the plea "only after due consideration of the views of the parties and the interest of the public in the effective administration of justice." According to the Notes of the Advisory Committee on the 1974 Amendment, this express consent provision leaves the balancing of competing provisions of fairness and finality to the trial court:

> defendant who А desires to plead nolo contendere will commonly want to avoid pleading guilty because the plea of guilty can be introduced as an admission in subsequent civil litigation. The prosecution may oppose the plea of nolo contendere because it wants a definite resolution of the defendant's guilt or innocence either for correctional purposes or for reasons of subsequent litigation. ABA standards Relating to Pleas of Guilty \$1.1(b), Commentary at 16-18 (Approved Draft, 1968).

Under subdivision (b) of the new rule, the balancing of the interests is left to the trial judge who is mandated to take into account the larger public interest in the effective administration of justice. (emphasis added).

There is no commensurate provision in the state rule. See Fla.R.Crim.Proc. 3.170(b). Both rules contain a provision that if a defendant is adjudged guilty after a nolo plea, he expressly waives his right to a further trial of any kind and must be so advised. Fla.R.Crim.Proc. 3.172(c)(5); Fed.R.Crim.Proc. 11(c)(3).

Second, it is not Cohen's nolo plea at issue pursuant to statute, but his conviction by adjudication of guilt, that constitutes an estoppel bar. Insofar as section 775.089(8) requires a "conviction ... for an offense involving the act giving rise to restitution" this Court has defined "conviction" in other contexts as "the adjudication by the court of the defendant's guilt and the pronouncement by the court of the penalty imposed upon the defendant." State v. Smith, 160 Fla. 288, 34 So.2d 533 (Fla. 1948) (interpreting "convicted" in context of habitual offender statute); Weathers v. State, 56 So.2d 536 (Fla. 1952), cert. denied, 344 U.S. 896, 73 S. Ct. 276, 97 L.Ed. 692 (1952) (interpreting "conviction" of principal for purposes of convicting accessory); Castillo v. State, 590 So.2d 458 (Fla. 3d DCA 1991) (for purposes of statute making it "unlawful" for any person convicted of a felony to possess a firearm, "conviction" means adjudication of guilt).

Third, the language in the entirely separate and independent statute §772.14, is addressed by neither <u>Satterfield</u> nor <u>Raiford</u>. Section 772.14, Fla. Stat. (1991) accords estoppel effect in a

subsequent civil suit to "A final judgment or decree rendered in favor of the State in any criminal proceeding concerning the conduct of the defendant which forms the basis for a civil cause of action under this chapter." The issue before this Court is thus one of interpretation of a statute which is clear on its face. Here, Cohen was adjudicated guilty and a judgment was rendered in favor of the state.⁴ Thus, it is not the admissibility of the plea which is in issue, <u>see</u> \$90.410, Fla. Stats. (1991) (nolo plea inadmissible), <u>but the final judgment of guilt</u>. A nolo plea together with an adjudication of guilt frequently has collateral consequences. <u>See Florida Bar v. Lancaster</u>, 448 So.2d 1019 (Fla. 1984) (plea plus adjudication sufficient to sustain disciplinary action, but accused has due process right to explain <u>in mitigation</u> of punishment). The general rule adopted by the majority of courts was stated in Sokoloff v. Saxbe, 501 F.2d 571, 574 (2d Cir. 1974):

> Where, as here, a statute (or judicial rule) attaches legal consequences to the fact of a conviction, the majority of courts have held that there is no valid distinction between a conviction upon a plea of <u>nolo contendere</u> and a conviction after guilty plea or trial.

It is thus the fact of conviction not the <u>nolo</u> plea which provides an estoppel if the identical question has been decided in a prior suit which could not have been decided without its resolution. <u>See United States v. Thomas</u>, 709 F.2d 968 (5th Cir. 1983).

Indeed, "compelling arguments" exist to give such convictions

⁴ <u>Satterfield</u> is based on §3664(e), which is the federal counterpart of §775.089(8).

collateral estoppel effect:

[A] plea of nolo contendere can be made and accepted in a capital case. If a consequence of entering such a plea in a capital case can be the imposition of life in prison or the death penalty, it seems logical to require that a consequence of such a plea can result in the application of the collateral estoppel provisions of the VWPA to any civil proceedings brought by the victim against the defendant.

Sawaya, Nov. 1988 Fla. Bar J., p. 17.⁵ <u>See Munnelly v. U.S. Post</u> <u>Office Service</u>, 805 F.2d 295 (11th Cir. 1986) (for other consequences of a conviction entered on a <u>nolo</u> plea, including deportation.)

In addition to promoting judicial economy and protecting litigants from the burden of relitigation, collateral estoppel serves to prevent inconsistent judgments which can undermine the finality and integrity of the judicial system. That is precisely what is at issue here. Cohen was adjudicated guilty for stealing \$3000. in criminal court, and ordered to repay the money, only to be found not liable for stealing the identical money in civil court. Query whether the civil judgment at issue undid the order of restitution by effectively requiring the money to be repaid to Cohen? This is precisely the type of inconsistent judgments which undermine the finality and integrity of the judicial system.

Applying the district court's logic, a criminal defendant

⁵ As Judge Learned Hand once observed, the effect of a nolo plea is not governed by logic; if it were, the plea might be abolished "because indubitably the plea does admit the facts and is intended to do so." <u>Pfotzer v. Aqua Systems, Inc.</u>, 162 F. 2d 779, 785 (2d Cir. 1947).

could plead <u>nolo</u> to murder charges, be adjudicated guilty, and sentenced to life imprisonment or even death, but would still retain the right to testify in civil wrongful death proceedings that he or she had done "nothing wrong". The clear intent and purpose of section 772.14 is to prevent such erroneous, inconsistent, and illogical results.

CONCLUSION

The district court's decision should be quashed, and the cause remanded with directions to either enter judgment in the petitioner's favor, or alternatively to grant it a new trial with enforcement of the statutory estoppel provisions.