SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO.: 84,060

STARR TYME, INC.,

Defendant/Petitioner,

v.

beerful

۰.

\$

DAVID COHEN,

Plaintiff/Respondent.

LID SID J. WILLING NOV 17 1994 CLERK, SUPREME COURT By Chief Deputy Clerk

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF

JOSEPH A MURPHY III SUITE 200 200 SOUTHEAST 6TH STREET FORT LAUDERDALE, FL 33301 (305) 463-6500

IV.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE
V.	STATEMENT OF THE FACTS
VI.	ISSUE
VII.	CONCLUSION
VIII.	CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Smith v. State, 160 Fla. 288, 34 So.2d 523 (Fla. 1948).

Weathers v. State, 56 So.2d 536 (Fla. 1952).

Barber v. State, 413 So.2d 482 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1982).

Castillo v. State, 590 So.2d 458 (Fla. 3d DCA 1991).

<u>Smith_v. Bartlett</u>, 570 So.2d 360 (Fla. 5th DCA 1990).

McGraw v. Dept. of State, Division of Licensing, 491 So.2d 1193 (Fla. 1st DCA 1986).

Paterno v. Fernandez, 569 So.2d 1349 (Fla. 3d DCA 1990).

United States v. Satterfield, 743 F2d 827 (11th Cir. 1984).

Raiford 695 F2d 523

OTHER AUTHORITIES

Section 772.14 Florida Statute (1991) Section 775.089(8) Florida Statute (1991) Florida Evidence Code 90410 18 U.S.C. §3580 (e) (renumbered to §3664 (e)) Rule 410 of the Florida Evidence Code

• •

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioner sued the Respondent for Civil Theft, Unauthorized Use of Company Credit Cards and Treble Damages.

The Respondent filed a Counter-claim or Breach of Contract and Accounting.

The Trial Court found against the Petitioner, on all counts, except as to Count IV, (credit card charge) which the Respondent, conceded.

The Court awarded Respondent in the amount of \$7,986.49 on his Counterclaim for Breach of Contract and ordered an Offset in favor of the Petitioner, for the credit card charges and several other charges, net Judgment to Respondent, \$4,597.36.

The Petitioner filed an appeal to the District Court of Appeals as to the issue of estoppel therefore the District Court upheld the verdict of the trial court.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The Petitioner, Bruce J. Benenfeld, an attorney, was the sole owner of the Petitioner Corporation.(R. 87-88) Benenfeld went to a personal friend (David Cohen) Respondent as to the failing shoe business.(R. 141)

The Petitioner agreed to pay the Respondent compensation for his services, five percent, (5%) override of gross sales, ten percent, (10%) of South Florida Sales, (Tampa South). (R.188) The Respondent was never paid for his services and the Petitioner refused to give an Accounting to the Respondent. The Respondent on

behalf of said business made two trips to the Philippines, two trips to New York, and one trip to Atlanta and performed numerous duties from lay outs to negotiations of contracts. (R.196-197)

The company made over \$160,000.00 in sales, when the Respondent made periodic requests for payment and an accounting, he was continuously stalled by Petitioner. The Respondent collected the accounts receivable from Future Nails. The Respondent retained \$3,000.00 and paid the balance to Petitioner. The Respondent kept the \$3,000.00 in cash, intact, in his safe, and never spent it. (R.204)

The Respondent refused to return the money without being paid, Petitioner threatened to "get" the Respondent (R. 205), and used his knowledge and position as an attorney in order to have charges filed against the Respondent.

The Respondent pleaded nolo not to a felony, but to a misdemeanor, which by definition is an amount under \$300.00. This plea was accepted by the Respondent in order to avoid the costs of a trial.

The Civil Trial Court upon hearing all the evidence found that there was no theft or conversion by the Petitioner.

The Petitioner seeks to have the Court blindly apply the Florida Statute 772.14 and 775.089 against the Respondent when in fact the Petitioner was the wrongdoer. The Petitioner was unable to prove his case under the lesser burden of the preponderance of the evidence and it is crystal clear that the Petitioner had systematically cheated the Respondent hence judgment was rendered

in favor of the Respondent on his Counterclaim.

ISSUE

WHETHER THE DEFENDANT SHOULD HAVE BEEN ESTOPPED FROM DENYING THE ESSENTIAL ALLEGATIONS IN A SUBSEQUENT CIVIL PROCEEDING WHEN HE HAS ENTERED A NO-CONTEST PLEA TO A MISDEMEANOR IN A FELONY CASE

In all of the cases supporting the Petitioner's position the Defendant was either found guilty at trial in the criminal proceeding or pled guilty to the criminal charge thereby admitting the underlying facts. When a Defendant in a criminal proceeding is found guilty at trial or pleads guilty admitting to the facts and to his guilt he is afforded due process and fundamental fairness under the law.

Florida Evidence Code 90.410 provides:

Evidence of a plea of guilty later withdrawn; a plea of nolo contender; or an offer to plea guilty or nolo contender to a criminal charge or any other crime is inadmissable in any civil or criminal proceeding. Evidence of this statement made in connection with any of these pleas or offers is inadmissable, except when such statements are offered in a prosection under Chapter 837.

Florida Statute 775.089(8) is based and is almost identical to Federal Statute 18 U.S.C. § 3580 (e) (renumbered in '987 to §3664 (e)), which provides:

A conviction of a Defendant for an offense involving the act giving rise to restitution under this section shall estop the Defendant from denying the essential allegations of that offense in any subsequent Federal Civil proceeding or State civil proceeding to the extent consistent with the State law, brought by the victim.

The Florida Evidence code 90.410 is based on Rule 410 of the Federal Evidence Code.

Rule 410 of the Florida Evidence Code provides:

Except as otherwise provided in this rule, evidence of the following is not, in any civil or criminal proceeding, admissible against he Defendant who made the plea or was a participant in the plea discussions:

In <u>United States v. Satterfield</u>, 743 F2d 827 (11th Cir. 1984), wherein the Court stated that a Defendant would be estopped under 18 U.S.C. §3580(e) from denying the essential allegations of the offense in a subsequent proceeding where the following occurred:

The facts underlying a criminal offence that give rise to restitution order will be given collateral estoppel effect only if they were fully and fairly litigated at the criminal trial, or stipulated through a guilty plea. See Raiford 695 F2d at 523 (guilty plea given same collateral estoppel effect as any other criminal conviction; plea of nolo contendere distinguished). (Emphasis added.)

In <u>Paterno v. Fernandez</u>, 569 So2d (Fla. 3rd DCA 1990), involving the issue of whether a <u>guilty plea</u> resulting in a conviction giving rise to a restitution order estopped the Defendant from denying the essential allegations of the offense in a subsequent proceeding. There the Court cited <u>United States v. Satterfield</u>, 743 F2d 827 (11th Cir. 1984), and stated:

<u>In pleading quilty</u> to an information charge to the crime of grand theft in the first degree, the <u>Defendant</u> <u>admitted all the facts contained in the information</u>, that she committed the crime of grand theft in the first degree, that she took \$20,000.00 or more from the Plaintiffs with the intent to deprive them of the right to their property and appropriated the property for her own use or for the use of others. Thus we find that facts underlying the criminal offense were stipulated through a guilty plea.

<u>Smith v. Barlett</u>, 577 So2d 360 (Fla. 5th DCA 1990), involved a <u>guilty plea</u> to aggravated battery where adjudication was withheld. The Fifth District held:

We hold that one who pleads guilty or is found guilty by

<u>a jury</u> has been "convicted" under the provisions of 775.089 (08) even in absence of an adjudication.

The theory underlying the Florida Statutes relied on by Petitioner is: 1) at trial a jury made a finding of guilty and the Defendant had a full and fair opportunity to litigate the facts, or 2) the Defendant enters a guilty plea and in doing so stipulates that all of the underlying facts all the true and correct.

In the instant case the Petitioner attempts to equate a nolo plea to a misdemeanor as to be the statutory equivalent of a guilty plea to a felony. In fact in her argument Counsel for the Petitioner wrongly tries to set forth the Respondent was adjudicated for stealing \$3,000.00 when in fact he was not.

In the instant case, the Respondent never stipulated to the underlying facts, nor were the facts ever litigated in the criminal proceeding and but rather only a nolo plea to a misdemeanor in order that the Respondent could avoid the cost of a felony criminal trial.

At the time of the civil trial when the facts were fully litigated, the Petitioner was unable to prove his case even by the preponderance of the evidence much less by the much higher standard of beyond and to the exclusion of every reasonable doubt which would have been required in the criminal prosecution. In fact, it became abundantly clear and was proven by the preponderance of the evidence the Petitioner had attempted to avoid and to date has avoided compensating the Respondent for his services. As a result the trial Court rendered Judgment in favor of the Respondent on his Counter-claim.

CONCLUSION

It would deny the Respondent due process of law and violate the doctrine of fundamental fairness if respondent is estopped from denying the essential allegations in a subsequent civil proceeding when he has merely entered a no-contest plea to a misdemeanor in a felony case.

To grant the relief sought by the Petitioner would be ludicrous since this would totally deny the Respondent due process of law and require the Court to render judgment against the Respondent. This is dramatically demonstrated in the instant case when the Respondent was afforded due process in the Trial Court, the Petitioner was unable to prove his case by the mere preponderance of the evidence.

The trial Court was correct. The Fourth District Court of Appeals was correct and should be affirmed.

JOSEPH A. MURPHY, ILL, ESQUIRE 200 Southeast **Sixth** Street Suite 200 Fort Lauderdale, Florida 33301 (305) 463-6500 Florida Bar No.: 201421